
January 9, 2013 

Mr. Michael Smith 
Hall Equities Group 
1855 Olympic Boulevard, STE 250 
Walnut Creek, CA 94596 

RE: Archaeological Resources Assessment Report - For CEQA Review, 
Saranap Village Project, Walnut Creek, Contra Costa County 
1176 Saranap Avenue, 1285-1295, 1298, 1299, 1300, 1320-1326 Boulevard Way 

Dear Mr. Smith, 

Please let this letter serve as Basin Research Associates’ (BASIN) Archaeological Resources 
Assessment Report for the Saranap Village Project, unincorporated Walnut Creek, Contra Costa 
County.  The assessment was requested in order to fulfill the various mandates of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and cultural resources and planning directives of Contra 
Costa County.  The report provides the results of a records search, reviews pertinent literature, 
discusses the results of an archaeological field inventory of the project area and presents 
management recommendations. 

PROJECT LOCATION 

The approximately 2.53-acre irregularly shaped project parcel includes 11 parcels of various 
sizes and configurations north and south of Boulevard Way near Walnut Creek, California.1  The 
mixed commercial, office, and multifamily residential area is about 300 feet north of Las 
Trampas Creek and about 0.9 miles west of the confluence of Las Trampas Creek with Tice 
Creek.  The more northerly confluence of San Ramon and Walnut Creek is approximately one 
mile west/northwest of the project (USGS Walnut Creek, Calif. 1980; T 1N, R 2W, Unsectioned) 
[Figs. 1-3]. 

                                                 

1. See the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment.  1285-1295, 1298, 1299, 1300, 1320-1326 Boulevard Way and 
1176 Saranap Avenue, Walnut Creek, California by AEI Consultants (2012) for additional detail. 
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RESEARCH SOURCES CONSULTED AND RESULTS 

A prehistoric and historic site record and literature search was completed by the California 
Historical Resources Information System, Northwest Information Center, Sonoma State 
University, Rohnert Park (CHRIS/NWIC File No. 12-0380 by Hagel 2012). 

Reference material from the Bancroft Library, University of California at Berkeley and Basin 
Research Associates, San Leandro was also consulted.  Specialized listings consulted include the 
list of California Historical Resources - Contra Costa County (CAL/OHP 2012a) and Historic 
Properties Directory for Contra Costa County (CAL/OHP 2012b) with the most recent updates 
of the National Register of Historic Places; California Historical Landmarks; and, California 
Points of Historical Interest other evaluations of properties reviewed by the State of California 
Office of Historic Preservation.  Other sources consulted include: California History Plan 
(CAL/OHP 1973); California Inventory of Historic Resources (CAL/OHP 1976); Five Views: An 
Ethnic Sites Survey for California (CAL/OHP 1988); Historic Civil Engineering Landmarks of 
San Francisco and Northern California (American Society of Civil Engineers 1977 [ASCE/SF]); 
List of Historic Civil Engineering Landmarks (ASCE 2012); Archeological Determinations of 
Eligibility for Contra Costa County (CAL/OHP 2012c); and, other local inventories, lists, and 
maps. 

RESULTS 

No recorded prehistoric or historic archaeological sites are present on or adjacent to the project.  
One site, P-07-002608, a residence at 2501 Warren Road has been recorded within 0.25 miles of 
the project (Massey and Bignell 2003/form). 

One cultural resources compliance report includes a small portion of the project or adjacent area 
(Holman 2008/S-3500).  This report is negative for the presence of historic and/or prehistoric 
archaeological resources.  Another four compliance reports on file are within 0.25 miles (Porter 
1980/S-2027; Busby 2001/S-25003; Massey 2003/S-27416; Massey 2004/S-2905).  Eleven 
additional studies on file with the CHRIS/NWIC are classified as "other reports" (i.e., reports 
with little or no field work, missing maps, or inadequate locational information) that include the 
search area (S-0595, S-0848, S-1978, S-2458, S-9462, S-9583, S-16660, S-18217, S-20395, S-
32596, and S-33600). 

The Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC) was contacted for a search of the Sacred 
Lands Inventory (Busby 2012a).  The response of the Native American Heritage Commission 
(NAHC) was negative (Pilas-Treadway 2012).  Letters requesting additional information from 
locally knowledgeable Native Americans received no response [Busby 2012b-d; see Attachments 
for Correspondence]. 

No local historical societies, planning departments, etc. were contacted regarding landmarks, 
potential historic sites or structures in or adjacent to the project. 
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NATIVE AMERICAN RESOURCES 
PREHISTORIC 

The general study area would have provided a favorable environment during the prehistoric 
period with riparian and inland resources readily.  Native American occupation and use of the 
general area appears to extend over 5000-7000 years and may be longer.  Archaeological 
research suggests an increase in the prehistoric population over time with an increasing focus on 
permanent settlements with large populations in later periods.  This change from hunter-
collectors to an increased sedentary lifestyle is due to more efficient resource procurement but 
with a focus on staple food exploitation, the increased ability to store food at village locations, 
and the development of increasing complex social and political systems including long-distance 
trade networks.   

General overviews and perspectives on regional prehistory can be found in Moratto (1984), 
Elsasser (1978), King (1978) and Jones and Klar (2007). 

ETHNOGRAPHIC 

The project appears to be located within the Saklan (alternatively Saclan, Sacalanes, Saklanes or 
Chaclanes) territory of the Bay Miwok.  Most researchers have assigned the area to the tribelet 
centered in the village of Saklan in the Walnut Creek area (e.g., CA-CCo-309 associated with the 
Rossmoor site).  The Saklan occupied the interior valleys of Contra Costa County west of Mt. 
Diablo, roughly from Lafayette to Walnut Creek and Danville (Beeler 1955, 1957; Cook 
1957:140, 147-148; Kroeber 1925:463; Levy 1978:398-399; Bennyhoff 1977:143, 145, 164; 
Fredrickson 1980:2-3; Bard et al. 1994; Milliken 1995:229, Map 2). 

Milliken differs placing the Saclans in the East Bay hills, east of present-day Oakland and central 
village of the Tatcan, a group who held San Ramon Creek, at present day Danville or 
alternatively Walnut Creek.  His more recent Central California Ethnographic Community 
Distribution Model groups/maps the Lafayette Saclan and the Alamo Tatcan (Milliken 1995:229, 
Map 2, 256; Milliken 2006:27, Fig. 5; 40, Table 8). 

Extensive ethnographic data for the San Francisco Bay Region are lacking, and the aboriginal 
lifeway apparently disappeared by approximately 1810 due to introduced diseases, a declining 
birthrate, the cataclysmic impact of the mission system and the later secularization of the 
missions by the Mexican government (Levy 1978). 

No known Native American villages and/or trails have been identified in, adjacent or near the 
project (e.g., Kroeber 1925; Bennyhoff 1977; Levy 1978; Milliken 1995). 

HISTORIC ERA RESOURCES 
HISPANIC PERIOD 

Between 1769 and 1776 a number of Spanish expeditions passed through the San Francisco Bay 
region, including those led by Portola, Fages, Fages and Crespi, Anza, Rivera, and Moraga.  
Although the routes of the early explorers cannot be determined with total accuracy, Fages and 
Crespi in 1772 were the first party to travel through the San Ramon Valley.  The plain between 
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Walnut Creek and Concord was described by the explorers as ". . . well covered with grass and 
grown with oak trees" while the valley south of Walnut Creek was noted as ". . . being covered 
with grass with the stream beds overgrown with alders, cottonwood, laurels, roses, and other 
shrubs."  Near Walnut Creek ". . . three villages with some little grass houses" were observed 
(Cook 1957:132).  In 1810, Father Jose Viader and Gabriel Moraga proceeded north from 
Mission San Jose into Contra Costa County by way of Valle de San Jose and Walnut Creek.  
Viader makes no mention of the Saklan, suggesting that Saklan villages noted earlier in the 
Walnut Creek area may have been abandoned before 1810 due to introduced diseases and 
missionization (Beck and Haase 1974:#17, #21) 

After an initial period of exploration, the Spanish concentrated on the founding of presidios, 
missions, and secular towns with the land held by the Crown (1769-1821).  In contrast, the later 
Mexican Period (1822-1848) policy stressed individual ownership of the land (Hart 1987). 

The project is situated within the southern part of the former Rancho Cañada del Hambre y Las 
Bolsas.  No Hispanic Period features appear to be present within the boundaries of the project 
(United States Surveyor General (USSG) 1866; Hendry and Bowman 1940:466-468).  The area 
was probably used for grazing during the Hispanic and the early American periods. 

During the Hispanic Period, Native Americans worked with former neighboring groups at the 
missions.  Later, with the secularization of the missions by Mexico in 1834, the majority of the 
aboriginal population gradually moved from the missions to ranchos to work as agriculturists and 
manual laborers (Hart 1987:237-238). 

AMERICAN PERIOD 

In the mid-19th century, most of the rancho and pueblo lands in California were subdivided as the 
result of population growth and the American takeover.  This American ascendancy was the 
result of the confirmation of property titles throughout California, prior to which the transfer of 
real estate had been extremely risky.  The initial explosion in population was associated with the 
Gold Rush (1848), followed later by the construction of the transcontinental railroad.  Still later, 
the development of the refrigerator railroad car (ca. 1880s), used for the transport of agricultural 
produce to distant markets, had a major impact on central California population growth (Hart 
1987). 

Contra Costa became one of the 27 initial counties of the State of California in 1850.  Walnut 
Creek, known as The Corners until the 1860s, was a sleepy little town where farmers worked the 
fertile lands along the banks of Arroyo de las Nueces (Walnut Creek).  The name "The Corners" 
was later changed to Walnut Creek after the creek and land grant, the Arroyo de los Nueces 
(creek of the walnuts), when the post office was established in 1862.  The farmers in the area had 
difficulty competing with those in the busy Martinez area and by the 1890s began planting fruit 
orchards in addition to their grain and hay in order to earn more money.  In the early 1900s many 
of the farmers also started to plant walnut groves, which soon became a source of the 
community's prosperity.  The community was incorporated as a city in 1914 and by the 1920s 
Walnut Creek was home to 528 citizens with triple that number by 1940.  The Caldecott Tunnel 
opened in 1937 and was responsible for additional growth in the area.  After World War II, many 
of the discharged veterans returned to the Walnut Creek area.  Consequently, Walnut Creek had 
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to augment its water and sewage services.  Many of the creeks were enclosed in concrete culverts 
permitting new construction in the area, and by 1951 Broadway Plaza had been built and became 
the home of many new retail establishments in the project vicinity.  Between 1965 and 1975 
numerous new apartment buildings were constructed and several of the roads were improved to 
accommodate the growing population.  The last decades have been characterized by ever 
increasing light industrial and residential infill and the displacement of agriculture.  In 1973, 
BART (Bay Area Rapid Transit) made Walnut Creek even more accessible and the decade 
between 1975-1985 brought on "The Age of High-Rise Offices in Walnut Creek."  Therefore, 
Walnut Creek has been transformed from a rural farm area to a small suburban community to a 
major urban center (Slocum 1882:192-193; Frickstad 1955:24; Emanuels 1986:55-66; Gudde 
1998:416).  In-fill commercial and residential development has continued with Walnut Creek 
continuing to be a major urban “destination” center. 

Project Specific 

None of the known early 1850s historic era structures in Walnut Creek and/or vicinity were 
located in or near the proposed Saranap Village Project.  The closest, William Slusher's cabin, 
was located to the northeast on the west bank of Walnut Creek at the "The Corners", that is at the 
crossing of two roads - Pacheco to the north and Oakland to south (Emanuels 1984:xx; WC/PIO 
1994:2; Drummond 1995:18 [1871 Map]; Whitney 1973). 

"Saranap," the project namesake,2 was situated south of Las Trampas Creek on the alignment of 
the Oakland, Antioch, and Eastern Railway (OA&E) as shown on the 1915 USGS Concord 
topographic quadrangle and on the 1948 USGS quadrangle on Sacramento Northern Railroad 
(SNRR).  Saranap was located south of the project on the east side of present-day Tice Valley 
Boulevard at Olympic Boulevard.  Las Trampas Creek (also known as Lafayette Creek), the road 
linking Lafayette and Walnut Creek and later, the railroad were the focus of development in the 
study area.  Present-day Olympic Boulevard now follows the former track alignment through the 
general study area (USGS 1897, 1915, 1948, 1959; Fickewirth 1992:93). 

FIELD INVENTORY 

Mr. Christopher Canzonieri (M.A.), Basin Research Associates, met with Mr. Michael Smith, 
Hall Equity Group on October 25, 2012 prior to the archaeological field inventory.  Mr. Smith 
reviewed the project and briefed Mr. Canzonieri on the project. 

The field inventory used transects varying in orientation spaced at 1-15 meters.  The project area 
includes existing commercial buildings, a single family home, an apartment building and a 
vacant lot.  Introduced landscaping, lawns, trees, shrubs, gravel and woodchips, covers most of 
the project parcels.  Surface visibility varied from 50-70% in areas not covered by concrete, 
gravel or wood chips. 

                                                 

2. Reportedly "The name [Saranap] was coined in 1913 from Sara Naphthaly, the name of the mother of Samuel 
Napthaly, vice president of the Oakland ad Antioch Railway, and was applied to the station previously known as 
Dewing Park" (Gudde 1998:351). 
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No evidence of significant prehistoric and historic archaeological resources was observed during 
the survey conducted for the project. 

A cursory review of the buildings suggests that several date from the 1940s to 1950s. 

1300 Boulevard Way (APN 184-010-046), south side of Boulevard Way, east of Saranap 
Avenue (opposite the northern portion of the project).  This parcel is occupied by a ca. 
1953/1961 two-story stucco building and an associated paved parking lot (facing 
Boulevard Way).  A large oak tree is located at the entry to the parking lot.  Overall 
surface visibility was 50%.  The ground surface, where exposed, consists of grayish 
brown clay. 

1320, 1322 and 1326 Boulevard Way (APN 184-450-025), south side of Boulevard Way, 
southwest of Saranap Avenue.  This triangularly shaped parcel is occupied by a single ca. 
1956 story stucco building, a paved parking lot, and a recently planted tree (with 
woodchips) to the south.  As a result, very little surface was exposed.  Surface visibility 
in areas not capped or landscaped was 50%.  Observed sediments consist of grayish 
brown clay. 

1176 Saranap Avenue (APN 185-370-012), the northernmost parcel.  A ca. 1941 single 
story wood frame house occupies this parcel.  Landscaping in the front consists of trees, 
shrubs and lawn along with some decorative basalt rock.  The sloping rear of the parcel 
also includes a variety of trees and shrubs and the decorative rock.  Overall surface 
visibility was 70%.  Observed sediments consist of brown clay with small angular 
pebbles.   

Two buildings, 1285, 1287, 1289, 1291] and 1295 Boulevard Way (APN 185-370-010), 
on the north side of Boulevard Way (east side of adjacent to 1176 and former 1299 
Saranap Avenue). 

Two, 2-story ca. 1950s stucco buildings with minimal landscaping (ivy and weeds) and a 
parking lot occupy this portion of the proposed project.  1285, 1287, 1289, and 1291 are 
located within the northernmost building while the southern building has only one 
address, 1295 with letter suites.  Overall surface visibility was 60%.  Observed sediments 
consist of brown clay with small angular pebbles. 

FINDINGS 

The general area appears to have a low to moderate archaeological sensitivity for prehistoric 
resources due to the proximity of Las Trampas Creek and other environmental factors suggesting 
suitability for prehistoric occupation. 

The Contra Costa County General Plan (Contra Costa County Community Development 
Department (CCC/CDD) 1996:9-14) does not assign a sensitivity rating to the project area 
due to the existing urban development. 

No prehistoric, Hispanic or American period archaeological resources and/or historic 
features have been recorded or reported within or adjacent to the proposed project as a 
result of the research completed for the project (see CHRIS/NWIC File No. 12-0380 and 
other sources). 
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The single compliance report on file with the CHRIS/NWIC that includes a small portion 
of the project is negative for the presence of historic and/or prehistoric archaeological 
resources. 

No known ethnographic, traditional or contemporary Native American resources have been 
identified in or adjacent to the proposed project [see Attachments]. 

No potentially significant prehistoric or historically significant archaeological resources 
were observed during field survey conducted for the proposed project. 

Most of the Saranap Village Project parcels with buildings/structures appear to date from 
the early 1940s to mid-1960s. 

No historic properties listed, determined eligible, or potentially eligible for inclusion on the 
National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) and/or California Register of Historical 
Resources (CRHR). 

No local, state or federal historically or architecturally significant structures, landmarks, or 
points of interest have been identified in or adjacent to the proposed project. 

MANAGEMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 

It is the considered opinion of Basin Research Associates, based on a review of pertinent records, 
maps and other documents, and a field review that the proposed project can proceed as planned 
in regard to prehistoric and historic archaeological resources  

No subsurface testing for buried archaeological resources appears necessary at this time.  In 
addition, archaeological monitoring is not recommended.  However, if any significant cultural 
materials3 are exposed or discovered during either site clearing or during subsurface 

                                                 

3. Significant prehistoric cultural resources are defined as human burials, features or other clusterings of finds 
made, modified or used by Native American peoples in the past.  The prehistoric and protohistoric indicators of 
prior cultural occupation by Native Americans include artifacts and human bone, as well as soil discoloration, 
shell, animal bone, sandstone cobbles, ashy areas, and baked or vitrified clays.  Prehistoric materials may 
include: 

a. Human bone - either isolated or intact burials. 
b. Habitation (occupation or ceremonial structures as interpreted from rock rings/features, 
 distinct ground depressions, differences in compaction (e.g., house floors). 
c. Artifacts including chipped stone objects such as projectile points and bifaces; 
 groundstone artifacts such as manos, metates, mortars, pestles, grinding stones, pitted 
 hammerstones; and, shell and bone artifacts including ornaments and beads. 
d. Various features and samples including hearths (fire-cracked rock; baked and vitrified clay), 
 artifact caches, faunal and shellfish remains (which permit dietary reconstruction), 
 distinctive changes in soil stratigraphy indicative of prehistoric activities. 
e. Isolated artifacts 

 Historic cultural materials may include finds from the late 19th through early 20th centuries.  Objects and 
features associated with the Historic Period can include. 

a. Structural remains or portions of foundations (bricks, cobbles/boulders, stacked field stone, 
 postholes, etc.). 
b. Trash pits, privies, wells and associated artifacts. 
c. Isolated artifacts or isolated clusters of manufactured artifacts (e.g., glass bottles, metal cans, 
 manufactured wood items, etc.). 
d. Human remains. 
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construction, operations should stop within 25 feet of the find and a qualified professional 
archaeologist contacted for further review and recommendations.  Potential recommendations 
could include evaluation, collection, recordation, analysis, etc. of any significant cultural 
materials followed by a professional report. 

CLOSING REMARKS 

If I can provide any additional information or be of further service please don't hesitate to contact 
me.  Thank you for retaining our firm for the project. 

Sincerely yours, 
BASIN RESEARCH ASSOCIATES, INC., 

 
Colin I. Busby, Ph.D., RPA 
Principal 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

This report evaluates the buildings in the proposed Saranap Village project area in the 
unincorporated Saranap area near the City of Walnut Creek, Contra Costa County as potential 
historically and architecturally significant resources.  The project includes six buildings: two 
office buildings at 1285-1291 and 1295 Boulevard Way (APN 185-370-010); the Holy Ghost 
Hall/Sufism Reunited Sanctuary at 1300 Boulevard Way (APN 184-010-46); a grocery store (the 
original La Rossa Market) and two adjacent retail spaces at 1320, 1322, 1324-1326 Boulevard 
Way (APN 184-450-025); the Sandpiper Apartments at 1180 Saranap Avenue (APN 185-370-
018); and a single-family house 1176 Saranap Avenue (APN 185-370-012).  A vacant lot at 
Saranap Avenue and Boulevard Way is also in the project area (APN 185-370-033).  The 
surrounding area is primarily retail commercial and multi-unit residential.  The Saranap Village 
project proposes mixed use commercial and multi-unit residential development on the parcels.  

This report was completed to comply with the sections of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (CEQA) requiring the identification of potential historic resources that may be adversely 
affected by a project.  The buildings in the project area have not been previously subject to formal 
evaluation under any local, state or federal historic resources designation criteria.  None of the 
buildings in the project area appear to be eligible for the California Register of Historical 
Resources (CRHR) because they are not significant under the significance criteria or they lack 
historic integrity.  Consequently, no measures to mitigate their removal are required under the 
CEQA Statutes and Guidelines. 

II. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The approximately 3.6-acre irregularly shaped project parcel includes 8 parcels of various sizes 
and configurations north and south of Boulevard Way near Walnut Creek, California.1  The mixed 
commercial, office, and multifamily residential area is about 300 feet north of Las Trampas Creek 
and about 0.9 miles west of the confluence of Las Trampas Creek with Tice Creek.  The more 
northerly confluence of San Ramon and Walnut Creek is approximately one mile west/northwest 
of the project (USGS Walnut Creek, Calif. 1980; T 1N, R 2W, Unsectioned) [Figs. 1-3]. 

A mixed use development, including approximately 235 residential units and neighborhood 
commercial uses, is planned for the project parcels, with all existing structures slated for 
demolition. 

III. HISTORICAL OVERVIEW 

THE CITY OF WALNUT CREEK – HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

The Spanish and Mexican Periods: 1777-1848 

During the Spanish Period, the Walnut Creek area was under the control of Mission San Jose, which 
may have grazed sheep and cattle in the project area during the early 19th century.  Founded in 1799, 
Mission San Jose was southwest of Walnut Creek in what is now the City of Fremont (near Interstate 

                                                 
1. See the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment.  1285-1295, 1298, 1299, 1300, 1320-1326 Boulevard Way and 

1176 Saranap Avenue, Walnut Creek, California by AEI Consultants (2012) for additional detail. 



2 
 

680).  The other missions closest to Contra Costa County (i.e., San Rafael and Sonoma) were 
accessible only by water.  The Pueblo de San Jose de Guadalupe, a small agricultural community 
founded in 1777 and located in what is today downtown San Jose, was south of Mission San.  Neither 
the mission nor the pueblo maintained any kind of settlement in Contra Costa County.  

After Mexico seceded from Spain in 1822, grants of land to private citizens began increasing 
substantially in number after the secularization of the missions began in 1833.  Rancho Arroyo de las 
Nueces y Bolbones was granted to Dona Juana Sanchez de Pacheco in 1834.  The rancho, named 
for its creek lined with walnut trees and the Bolbones Indians, included two leagues (17,782 acres) 
in an area stretching from Alamo to Concord.  In 1836, an adobe was built on the rancho.  The 
Mexican ranchos ran large herds of cattle for tallow and hides. 

The American Period: 1848-1900 

In 1848, California became a United States territory as a result of the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo 
ending the war with Mexico.  California was formally admitted as a state in 1850.  Contra Costa 
County, one of the original 27 counties created by the California legislature, included what is today 
Contra Costa and Alameda counties.  In 1853, Alameda County was created from the western and 
southern sections of Contra Costa County.  Martinez became the county seat when Contra Costa 
County was created in 1850. 

The start of the Gold Rush in 1848 brought a massive influx of immigrants to California from all 
parts of the world.  California's 1848 population of less than 14,000 (exclusive of Indians) increased 
to 224,000 in four years.  With the beginning of the American Period, the population explosion 
resulting from the Gold Rush created a market for a wide range of agricultural products.  As more and 
more gold seekers became discouraged with mining, they turned to farming as a livelihood.  Farmers 
started to raise crops and livestock for sale, not just to be self-sufficient.  

An early American settler in the Walnut Creek area was James T. Walker who purchased 1,400 
acres of the Pacheco rancho for a cattle ranch in the 1850s.  Walker built a house on what is today 
North Gate Road between Walnut Creek and Mt. Diablo.  Walnut Creek was originally known as 
“The Corners” for the intersection of two major roads to Oakland and San Jose/Monterey at what 
is today Mt. Diablo Boulevard and Main Street (Purcell 1940:708).  William Slusher had built a 
cabin in this area in 1849 and Milo Hough built a hotel (“The Walnut Creek House”) and trading 
post in 1855 at the corner.  Hough also had a blacksmith shop.  The Rogers Hotel opened nearby 
in 1856.  The original Walnut Creek House burned in 1867 but was later rebuilt (Ravanpera 
1999:11).  

Hiram Penniman platted the first lots in the town site in 1856.  James McDonald and Charles 
Whitmore built a general store at “The Corners” in 1860 and a schoolhouse was built in 1871.  In 
1872, a Methodist Church was one of the first churches constructed in Walnut Creek.  Homer 
Shuey laid out the downtown streets and lots in two original subdivisions in 1876-77.  The first 
drugstore run by Dr. Joseph Peterson opened in 1878 in Walnut Creek.  The town’s first 
newspaper, the Walnut Creek Independent, began publication in 1882, but folded after 17 issues.  
The Walnut Creek Sentinel was the next newspaper published, but it also went out of business the 
same year it started in 1894.  The earliest newspaper in Contra Costa County was the Contra 
Costa Gazette, first based in Martinez, then in Pacheco, returning to Martinez in 1873.   
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Stagecoaches provided the first transportation system in the Walnut Creek area.  In the 1860s, a 
stagecoach line ran from Pacheco through Walnut Creek to Oakland.  Another stagecoach line 
went from Walnut Creek to Hayward.  

Although California started to develop a more diversified farm economy, starting in the 1860s, wheat 
cultivation dominated California agriculture for nearly 30 years (Jelinek 1979; Hilkert and Lewis 
1984).  California produced a hard, white grain wheat because of the hot, dry period from May to 
October in the growing season.  The wheat did not need the binding and curing of Midwest wheat, 
and thus could be shipped long distances upon being harvested.  By the 1870s, Contra Costa County 
was producing 700,000 bushels of wheat annually on 80 square miles (Walker 1989:105).  The 
Carquinez straits were lined ". . . with miles of warehouses" that stored the wheat before shipping 
(Hilkert and Lewis 1984:Introduction).  Owners of the large ranchos sold or leased their land to 
farmers who grew wheat.  Wheat farming declined in the 1890s because yields dropped from not 
rotating crops, and the development of competing wheat growing areas like Australia and Argentina 
(Hilkert and Lewis 1984:2).  The town of Pacheco (now part of City of Pleasant Hill) was an early 
center of grain production during the years when wheat was California's most important 
agricultural export.  Grains were shipped from Pacheco to the wharves in Port Costa for shipping.   

Beginning in the 1880s, the agricultural economy in Central Contra Costa County changed from grain 
to fruit and nut cultivation.  The completion of the transcontinental railroad in 1869 opened a 
tremendous new market for California fruit.  In almost every area served by adequate rail 
transportation the big grain ranches were subdivided into smaller holdings.  The railroad provided a 
way to get fruit to market while still fresh, and improvements in refrigerated rail cars made it possible 
to ship fresh produce longer distances.  The development of the canning and drying industries also 
created new methods of preserving and storing for later consumption.  The major orchards in the 
Walnut Creek area included apricots, pears, and walnuts, in addition to vineyards (Rovanpera 
1999:26).    

The Southern Pacific Railroad brought the first railroad service to Walnut Creek in June, 1891.  
Walnut Creek was on a line that continued south from Avon (3.5 miles east of Martinez) to San 
Ramon.  The trip from Walnut Creek to San Francisco took 2 hours and 45 minutes by train and 
ferry boat.  

Walnut Creek: Twentieth Century 

The growth of Walnut Creek in the early 20th century led to many new buildings and businesses in 
the town.  The Walnut Creek News, a weekly was first published in 1905.  The commercial district 
of Walnut Creek grew to 25 businesses in 1909 (Brubaker 1975:115).  The Contra Costa Courier 
Journal started in 1911 in Walnut Creek.  The first city library opened in 1912 in the Baker 
Building with a permanent library constructed in 1916 on Main Street.  The earliest subdivisions 
in the area were 10 to 30 acre parcels for small farms, beginning with the Walnut Orchard Tract in 
1909.  Later subdivisions included Williams Walnut Subdivision of 1910 and Frandsen’s 
Subdivision, 1911.  Treehaven, west of Oak Grove Road, was the first Post-World War II 
subdivision. 

The early 20th century growth in Walnut Creek culminated in its 1914 incorporation of an area that 
included about one square mile.  The City Trustees had their first meeting in the San Ramon Bank 
Building in October, 1914.  The population of Walnut Creek was 538 in 1920.  
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The Walnut Creek area was still primarily an agricultural economy in the early 20th Century.  The 
passage of the Volstead Act instituting prohibition in 1919 resulted in a further expansion of 
walnut growing as walnut trees replaced many of the grapevines.  After prohibition was repealed, 
walnut growing continued to be the main crop in the area.  The harvesting of walnuts reached its 
peak in 1946. 

Walnut Creek continued to expand during the boom years of the 1920s.  The Ramona Theater, 
Walnut Creek’s first movie house, opened in 1920.  Standard Oil opened the town’s first gas 
station the same year.  The Walnut Creek Kernal newspaper began in August, 1931.  The 
population of Walnut Creek reached 1,552 in 1940, a threefold increase from 1920. 

The population boom of the Post-World War II period transformed Walnut Creek from a small 
rural town into a major suburban commercial and residential center.  The new growth led to the 
city becoming part of the Contra Costa County Sanitary District in 1948 and the East Bay 
Municipal District began supplying water in 1952.  Many new subdivisions and apartment 
buildings were constructed in the Walnut Creek area in the 1950s and 1960s, increasing the 
population from 2,460 in 1950 to 9,900 in 1960.  

The city culverted Las Trampas and San Ramon creeks to create the land for the major regional 
shopping center, Broadway Plaza.  Construction began on the center in 1951 with the J.C. Penney 
store and Sears opening at the corner of South Main Street and Broadway Plaza.  The H.C. 
Capwell store was constructed in 1953.  In 1987, Walnut Creek’s population reached 60,500.  The 
estimated population of Walnut Creek in 2012 was 65,695. 

THE COMMUNITY OF SARANAP – HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

The project area is located in an area known as Saranap, an unincorporated primarily residential 
area between the cities of Walnut Creek on the east and Lafayette on the west.  The community is 
adjacent to the State Highway 24 and Interstate 680 interchange and approximately a mile from 
the central commercial district of Walnut Creek.  The area has been identified as Saranap on 
Contra Costa County maps since at least 1915 (Ligda 2005:1) with the name first appearing on the 
Great Register of voters in 1920 (Ligda 2005:4).  The main commercial street through Saranap is 
Boulevard Way which joins with Mt. Diablo Boulevard on the east.  Boulevard Way changes to 
Tice Valley Boulevard on the east.  Las Trampas Creek winds through the neighborhood. 

The Saranap area is within two Mexican Period land grants: Rancho Arroyo de las Nueces y 
Bolbones and Rancho San Ramon.  The United States Government did not grant clear title to the 
grants until 1866, when Joseph Naphtaly and John Jones could purchase the parcels in the Saranap 
area.  Jones purchased 310 acres and built a two-story farmhouse for his family.  Joseph Naphtaly 
purchased 353 acres.  Joseph and his wife Sarah, who lived in San Francisco, hired others to work 
his ranch, which included a winery and a 150-acre vineyard.  Naphtaly also had orchards and grew 
wheat.  They continued to add to their land holdings in the area until they had over 2,000 acres, in 
the early 1900s (Note: their land includes much of what is today Rossmoor) (Ligda 2005:33).  
Other early ranchers in the area include J.W. Tice and John Humble. 

The farmers in the area were isolated from the cities of Oakland and San Francisco by the East 
Bay Hills.  The steep and narrow Summit Road (later Fish Ranch Road) was slow and often 
dangerous to traverse.  By 1903 a narrow “high” tunnel was built through the hills, lowering the 
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grade by 500 feet (Ligda 2005:18).  The half mile long tunnel was low, dark and leaky (electric 
lights were not installed until 1919).  In 1891 the Southern Pacific Railroad began train service to 
Walnut Creek.  Local ranchers could ship milk and produce by freight train to San Francisco (the 
railroad headed north to Martinez or Port Costa where the products were transferred to ships). 

The Dewings family bought the John Jones ranch in 1903 and moved to the Jones farmhouse after 
their home in Oakland was damaged by the 1906 earthquake.  They developed the first residential 
subdivision – Dewing Park - in Saranap in 1913.  Dewing Park had 160 lots adjacent to the 
electric railway line.  Ads for the subdivision promoted “Beautiful Home Sites” one mile and a 
quarter from the center of Walnut Creek.  Prices ranged from $250 to $800 for one fourth acre to 
one acre lots, a “semi-tropical climate” averaging an ideal fifty five degrees for the year, and  
“flowers bloom the year round.”  The Dewings’ next subdivision was the “FloraLand Tract” of 50 
lots in 1915 [Figs. 4-5].  The lots were on both sides of Boulevard Way down to the creek.  The 
real estate flier offered one to ten acres lots “. . . where you can raise your own chickens, berries, 
fruit, nuts and vegetables.”  Some people who bought lots built summer homes while others 
became full-time residents.  James and Amelia Dewing tore down the old Jones farmhouse and 
built themselves a new Craftsman Style house designed by Randolph Hook (Jim’s brother-in-law) 
in 1915.  By the 1930s new homes were scattered throughout the Dewing subdivisions.  

In recent decades, the early single-family houses have been replaced by suburban apartment 
complexes and commercial development, particularly along Boulevard Way.  In 2010 Saranap had 
a population of 5,200, 82% white and about 9% Asian.  Saranap is part of the unincorporated area 
encompassed within zip code 94595, but its mail is addressed to Walnut Creek, CA for delivery 
purposes.   

Transportation in Contra Costa County: The Oakland, Antioch and Eastern Electric 
Railway 

The small community of Saranap began to develop in 1911 around the station built by the 
Oakland, Antioch and Eastern (O, A & E) Electric Railway, an interurban passenger train.  The 
station, originally known as Ramon Junction, was located near the intersection of Boulevard Way 
and Olympic Boulevard.  The station was renamed by the adjacent property owners – the 
Naphtalys and Dewings family – when they developed plans to subdivide their land and sell 
residential lots in the area.  The name “Saranap” is a conjunction of the first and last syllables of 
Sarah Naphtaly’s first and last names.  Joseph and his son Samuel Naphtaly had been on the 
governing board of the electric railway company.  The first rail service on the electric railway 
between Bay Point and Concord began February 13, 1911 then on to Walnut Creek in May, 1911 
(Lane 2012:4).  Service on the line continued west to Lafayette and Moraga.  A tunnel for the 
interurban railway was completed in April, 1913 connecting the line from Bay Point to Oakland 
where one could transfer to the Key System and the San Francisco ferries.  After the tunnel was 
completed the trip from Saranap to San Francisco was only about an hour and ten minutes (Ligda 
2005:36).  

Another branch line ran down through Alamo on to Hartz Road into the center of Danville.  This 
branch line carried Saranap students to San Ramon Valley High School in Danville.  The 
interurban trains later crossed Suisun Bay on a ferry boat providing service to Sacramento and as 
far north as Chico.  It was the only electric interurban ferry in the United States (Lane 2012:7).  
The entire system had 186 miles of track, the longest electric interurban railway in the country 
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(Lane 2012:14).  In 1920 the railway became known as the San Francisco Sacramento Railroad 
Company.  Passenger service on the electric railway stopped operating in 1941 after a number of 
major transportation projects dramatically increased roads and automobile access throughout 
Contra Costa County.  These major transportation projects set the stage for the population boom in 
Contra Costa County in the post-World War II years. 

First the Carquinez Bridge joining Contra Costa and Solano counties opened in 1927.  Two major 
transportation projects of the 1930s were especially important to opening up Central Contra Costa 
County to new development.  The opening of both the Caldecott Tunnel and the Bay Bridge in 
1937 provided Contra Costa County a more direct vehicular means of access to San Francisco and 
the central Bay Area.  The construction of several new highways in the county during the 1930s 
was followed by the construction of a major freeway system (Interstate 680 and State Highway 
24) in Contra Costa County during the decades after World War II.  The new freeways were part 
of a regional freeway system connected to Interstates 80, 580, 880 and State Highway 101. 

The Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) system opened its Walnut Creek station in May, 1973 
stimulating new residential construction.  Walnut Creek also became a significant suburban office 
center in the 1970s and 1980s.  Workers from other parts of the Bay Area commuted to Walnut 
Creek to the new high rise office buildings.  One million square feet of new office space had been 
constructed north of the BART station by 1985.  By 1987, Walnut Creek’s population reached 
60,500.  The estimated population of Walnut Creek in 2012 was 65,695. 

1300 Boulevard Way - Holy Ghost Hall/Sufi Reunited  

During the early 1900s Portuguese immigrants primarily from the Azores settled in central Contra 
Costa County.  The immigrants bought ranches in the Walnut Creek, Orinda, Lafayette and 
Danville areas and had cattle, dairy cows and walnut orchards. 

As historian George Emanuels indicated:  

. . . all through the growing years in Walnut Creek, the Portuguese immigrants and 
their descendants made a mark on the town.  Their industry, foresight, thrift and 
business acumen made their heritage a valuable adjunct to the community 
(Emanuels 1984:71). 

On October 16, 1898 the Portuguese community formed the Walnut Creek branch of fraternal and 
beneficent society Iramandade do Divono Espirito Santo (I.D.E.S.).  The I.D.E.S. had affiliated 
societies in many East Bay towns and in Santa Clara County2.  Walnut Creek was centrally 
located and thus convenient to many who lived in the area.  St. Mary’s Mission, located near the 
southern part of Walnut Creek, had also been used for their annual Holy Ghost Festival.  The Holy 
Ghost Festival was a Catholic religious celebration that dated back to the 15th Century in the 
Azores Islands.  The celebration included a ritual coronation by a priest at the parish church, 
devotion to the “Holy Ghost,” distribution of gifts to the poor, a communal meal and various 
secular activities.  The celebration was eventually banned by the Catholic Church in Europe but 
continued in the more remote Azores (Goulart 2003:29).  The Portuguese community in the 

                                                 
2. The center of the Bay Area Portuguese community continues to be the Five Wounds Church, an impressive 

Portuguese Baroque Revival building constructed in 1915, on Alum Rock Avenue in San Jose. 
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Walnut Creek area grew during the 1920s to 1940s and the “Feste” celebration grew as more 
families donated money.  The festival was held every year in the Walnut Creek area from 1898 to 
1973 (Ligda 2005:85). 

218).  The Walnut Creek I.D.E.S. eventually merged with the 
Concord Council # 18 in 1997. 

e hall named Saranap Inn (which featured Country and Western Music) at this address [Fig. 
6].  

his location from a building they rented at Sutter 
Street and Van Ness Avenue in San Francisco.  

 

g the ramp from the first parking area to a second floor entrance and porte-cochere on 
the south. 

ry began in early 2013 and the building is expected to be 
completed in less than two years. 

After World War II the Holy Ghost Festivals became larger leading to an interest in a separate 
Portuguese meeting hall (Goulart 2003:218).  Edgar and Luella Culver sold part of the their three 
acres of land on Boulevard Way for the Holy Ghost Hall, a meeting hall for the Portuguese 
community, in about 1947.  The property was originally parcel number 19 (2.87 acres) of the 
Floraland Tract.  According to County Assessor records, the Holy Ghost Hall was built in 1953.  
Older residents of the area recall the local parades of children dressed in white carrying a statue 
around the neighborhood as part of the Holy Ghost Festival (Ligda 2005:86).  By the 1960s many 
of the ranches and farms owned by Portuguese families had been sold for housing development.  
The 1964 Walnut Creek City Directory shows the “Walnut Creek Hall Association” (not the Holy 
Ghost Hall Association) as occupying the building.  The last festival was held in Walnut Creek on 
March 1, 1973 (Goulart 2003:

As the Portuguese community declined, the Holy Ghost Hall Association rented out the hall for 
other uses: the Kiwanis, a local Sunday school class, then later as the Iron Gate restaurant.  
According to the 1966 Walnut Creek City Directory, Marty’s of Walnut Creek catering service 
occupied 1300 Boulevard Way.  The Oakland Tribune had an ad in 1970 for a restaurant and 
danc

In December, 1974 Sufis Reoriented purchased the Holy Ghost Hall.  Sufis Reoriented is a non-
profit corporation which provides spiritual education based on ideas of Meher Baba, a spiritual 
teacher from India who founded Sufism Reoriented.  Baba, who died in 1969, promoted the idea 
of practical spirituality practiced in daily life and the values of love and brotherhood and the unity 
of all races and creeds.  The group moved to t

In 1980 Sufism Reoriented extensively remodeled both the exterior and interior the building at 
1300 Boulevard Way.  The remodel was designed and constructed by Sufism Reoriented 
members.  New windows and doors and a first floor pergola were added to the main east façade. 
The overall size of the building was substantially increased, almost doubling its size, with a 25-
foot addition to the south.  They also constructed a new kitchen and remodeled the interior with a 
new reception area, main stairway to the second floor, new first and second floor offices, dining 
areas, and meeting spaces.  The main auditorium on the second floor was substantially expanded 
and improved with a new stage, lighting, seating, audio/visual room and the latest stage 
equipment.  The low wall was constructed adjacent to Boulevard Way.  The remodel included 
constructin

The Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors approved in February, 2012 a new 66,000 square 
feet sanctuary for Sufism Reoriented near their current location at 1300 Boulevard Way.  
Construction on the new sanctua
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1320, 1322, 1324, 1326 Boulevard Way - La Rossa Market 

Louis and Martha La Rossa owned a neighborhood grocery on the corner Mt. Diablo Boulevard 
and Pleasant Hill Road in the early 1950s.  In the 1950s State Highway 24 replaced this section of 
Mt. Diablo Boulevard.  La Rossa received $30,000 to relocate the market to the location on 
Boulevard Way that had been an old chicken ranch (2.61 acre parcel # 25 in the Floraland Tract).  
The La Rossas brought the two acre site for $5,500 (the store was originally across the street from 
Frank’s service station – now a vacant lot) (Ligda 2005:88).  The market opened in 1955 although 
some of the neighbors did not want a business near them.  The building included a couple of street 
level retail spaces (leased to beauty related businesses) and the market and parking lot were on a 
higher level above the street.  

After Louis LaRossa died in 1974, Martha and her son Tony continued to operate the market until 
they sold it to Richard Shelley in 1987 (Ligda 2005:89).  Martha and her husband Don Williams 
continued to run markets in other locations.  Martha died in 2005.  The La Rossa Market became 
known as Super Liquor & Market.  Sufism Reoriented purchased the building at 1320 to 1326 
Boulevard Way in 2004.  The market has been leased to various operators over the years.  By 2005 
Ann and Philip Pham had operated the market for five years; they moved to the United States after 
the Vietnam War after spending two years in a refugee camp (Ligda 2005:89).  The Help-U-Sell 
Realty and Beauty Image Plus occupied the lower level retail space in 2005.  The market space is 
currently used by Sufism Reoriented as a headquarters for some charity organizations, and tenants 
still occupy the street level retail space at 1320 and 1322 Boulevard Way. 

1285-1291 and 1295 Boulevard Way  

The office buildings at 1285 and 1295 Boulevard Way date from 1927, 1938 and 1965 (AEI 
Consultants 2012:15-16).  The earlier buildings dating from 1927 and 1938 on this parcel, cited in 
public records, appear to have been either demolished or substantially remodeled in the 1960s.  
Based on their architectural style and materials, the two extant office buildings at 1285 and 1295 
Boulevard Way appear to date from the mid-1960s.  The 1964 Walnut Creek City Directory lists 
four firms, primarily firms in the building trades, as tenants at 1285-1291 Boulevard Way.  1295 
Boulevard Way is not listed in the 1964 City Directory.  Callouette & Associates consulting 
engineers (John E. Callouette, Principal) are listed at 1285 Boulevard Way; at 1287 Boulevard 
Way is Western Empire Construction, Inc., building contractor; Montgomery Pest Control was at 
1289; and Darville Electrical Company and Walnut Creek Insulation were at 1291.  

The contractors Roth & Adams received a building permit in 1965 for offices and stores at 1285 
and 1295 Boulevard Way (AEI Consultants 2012:15).  The 1966 Walnut Creek City Directory 
lists 1285 and 1295 Boulevard Way as the Roth & Adams Building.  Roth & Adams building 
contractors occupied 1291 Boulevard Way with Conco, apartment rentals, and W.C. Insulation. 
The offices in1295 Boulevard Way are designated by individual letters in the 1966 City Directory: 
(E) Leslie Meggs, lawyer; (F) Edmund Schuttz; (G) Vacant; and (H-L) Continental Corporation 
Food Service Management.  Palmer Specific Chiropractic and Allen W. Tipton (no occupation 
indicated) are listed as tenants at 1295 Boulevard Way.  

The 1968 Walnut Creek City Directory lists 1285 Boulevard Way as vacant; Western Electric 
Construction Company is in 1287; and the same occupants shown in 1966 are in 1291 Boulevard 
Way.  1295 Boulevard Way is listed as an “office building” in 1968 with General Engineering 
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(unit A), Elite Enterprises Stenographer (Unit C), Leslie Meggs (Unit E), Horace Sino, Lawyer 
(Unit F), and Hi Continental Caterers (Unit J).  The 1971 Haines Criss-Cross Directory lists the 
same tenants in 1295 Boulevard Way.  In 1971, Motive Action, Inc occupied 1285 Boulevard 
Way; Del Monte Electric was in 1287; Trademark Homes at 1289; and Roth & Adams now shared 
1291 with Knight Brothers, Inc and Richard F. Knight.  According to the Haines Criss-Cross 
Directories 1976 to 2006, the businesses occupying these two buildings changed frequently over 
this 20 year period.  

Sufism Reoriented purchased the two buildings at 1285 and 1295 Boulevard Way in September, 
2002.  

1180 Saranap Avenue 

The buildings at 1176 and 1180 Saranap Avenue are both on Parcel #9 (3.35 acres) of the original 
Floraland Tract filed in 1915.  According to County Assessor records, the apartment building at 
1180 Saranap Avenue was constructed in 1958.  This two story apartment building was originally 
named Saranap Lodge.  The 1964 Walnut Creek City Directory lists 10 units on the first floor 
(102-111) and 12 units on the second floor (201 to 212).  The 1964 Directory shows no vacancies 
in the building.  Early tenants in the apartments included Mary Bragg, Leo Locate, Dale 
Gudnason, Theodore Thomas, J.D. Hollinbeck and Wayne Farnholtz.  Theodore Thomas was an 
architect with Thomas & Wolverson, Architects in Walnut Creek.  The 1966 and 1968 Walnut 
Creek City Directories show largely different tenants occupying the apartments thus the building 
clearly served a transient population.  The building was later renamed the Sandpiper Apartments. 
The apartments have continued to be occupied by tenants. 

1176 Saranap Avenue  

The buildings at 1176 and 1180 Saranap Avenue are on the original Parcel #9 (3.35 acres) of the 
Floraland Tract filed in 1915.  According to County Assessor records, the house at 1176 Saranap 
Avenue was constructed in 1941.  The original owners of the single-family house at 1176 Saranap 
Way were Helen S. and Walter Leedom, who earlier had been residents of Oakland.  In 1926 
Helen and Walter Leedom, a salesman, are listed in the 1926 Oakland Directory at 2918 Delaware 
Street, Oakland.  In the 1930 U.S. Census for Oakland, Walter Leedom is identified as general 
contractor.  Born in 1884, Walter Leedom died in March, 1945 at the age of 59 years old.  After 
her husband’s death, Helen Leedom continued to live at 1176 Saranap Avenue until her death in 
1983 as the age of 83 (California Death Index).  The 1981 Haines Criss-Cross Directory lists Mrs. 
Leedom at 1176 Saranap Avenue.  Kjertin L. Miller owned and occupied the house by the 1990s 
(shown in the Haines Criss-Cross Directory in 2001).  Sufism Reoriented purchased the house in 
June, 2003. The house has been occupied by tenants in recent years.  

IV. RESEARCH AND FIELD METHODS 

Ward Hill (M.A. Architectural History, University of Virginia, 1982) conducted a detailed survey 
of the project area buildings on January 16, 2014 with Sufism Reoriented property manager Bill 
Bodman.  Sufism Reoriented owns the buildings in the project area except for the Sandpiper 
Apartments at 1180 Saranap Avenue.  During this survey, Hill physically examined and 
photographed the buildings, preparing written descriptions of the buildings and noting exterior 
alterations.  The interiors of 1300 Boulevard Way (Sufism Reoriented sanctuary), 1322-24 (La 
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Rossa Market and office) and one space in the office building at 1295 Boulevard Way were 
inspected.  The interiors of 1176 and 1180 Saranap Avenue and 1285-1291 Boulevard Way were 
not accessible. 

Pre-field sources consulted for this report included the Contra Costa Preliminary Historic 
Resources Inventory (1976); National Register of Historic Places (United States Department of 
Interior, 1991, and California Office of Historic Preservation updates to 2013), California 
Inventory of Historic Resources (CAL/OHP 1976), California Historical Landmarks (CAL/OHP 
1990) and California Points of Historical Interest (1992), and the “Partial List of Potentially 
Significant Historical Structures and Sites”, listed in the Walnut Creek General Plan. 

Archival research was conducted during January-February, 2014 on the buildings in the project 
area and on the history of the City of Walnut Creek for the historical overview.  Historic research 
was conducted at the following libraries and archives: Natural Resource Library Map Room, the 
Bancroft Library and Newspapers and Periodicals collection at the University of California at 
Berkeley; Contra Costa County Historical Society, Martinez; Contra Costa County Main Library, 
Pleasant Hill; the Walnut Creek Main Library, Walnut Creek.  Mr. Hill also interviewed Ira 
Dietrich, Director, Sufism Reoriented about the history of 1300 Boulevard Way.   

V. DESCRIPTION 

1300 Boulevard Way (APN 184-010-46) - Holy Ghost Hall/Sufism Reunited [Figs. 7A-D] 

The Sufism Reunited sanctuary at 1300 
Boulevard Way is a two-story, wood frame 
building with a cross-gable roof, a square plan, 
and exterior stucco walls.  A shed roof section 
extends from the north façade.  The building is 
located on the western half of the flat, 
trapezoidal shaped lot of 0.632 acres.  The 
building faces a paved parking lot on the east.  
The landscaping of the lot includes small and 
medium size trees in various places around the 
perimeter.  The northeast corner of the parking 
lot has a large oak tree.  The front (east) façade 
also has a row of small trees adjacent to the 
covered first floor walkway.  A planter with 
trimmed hedges and rose bushes is adjacent to the driveway to the second floor porte-cochere 
(built 1987).  A stair on the south side of the building also leads up to the porte-cochere.  A low 
stucco-covered wall is along Boulevard Way.  

1300 Boulevard Way – Front façade from parking lot 

The front (east) façade has a single, vertical window under the gable, five aluminum frame second 
floor windows and a series of double, glazed doors on the first floor.  A 1980 addition expanded 
the building 25 feet to the south (the double doors with large flanking fixed pane windows on the 
first floor are part of the 1980 expansion).  The main entrance doors are on the north side of the 
front façade’s first floor.  Inside, the first floor has a reception area with a stairway to the second 
floor offices; a large kitchen, and a dining area.  The second floor has the main meeting space with 
a sloping floor and a stage.  
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1320 - 1326 Boulevard Way (APN 184-450-025) - La Rossa Market [Figs. 8A-D] 

1320-1326 Boulevard Way is a small grocery 
store with two adjacent retail commercial 
spaces.  The building is on a triangular 0.615 
acre lot.  The building is a concrete block 
structure with an oblique angle plan on two 
levels.  The upper level includes a small 
grocery store (1326) and an adjacent office 
space (1324) that faces west to an asphalt 
paved parking lot.  Eight concrete steps lead 
down from the parking lot to two small retail 
spaces at 1320 and 1322 Boulevard Way that 
face north and have frontage on the street.  
Both the upper and lower levels of the building 
have flat roofs. The grocery store (now vacant) on the upper level has steel I-beam roof rafters set 
on the concrete walls.  The roof eaves on the west have exposed rafters.  Inside the market is an 
open free-span space with an enclosed refrigerated area on the south.  The front façade has a 
double aluminum frame door (opening into the market), four fixed pane windows, and a single 
door into the offices on the north below a metal awning.  A garage opening on the south is covered 
with vertical wood siding.  The northwest corner of the roof still has the metal sign for La Rossa 
Market. 

1320-22 Boulevard Way on the left and 1324-26 
Boulevard Way behind fence on the right 

The two retail spaces at 1320 and 1322 Boulevard Way both have large plate glass windows with 
wooden sash.  Single hinged doors open into the stores.  A wide roof overhang (with front fascia 
board) creates a covered walkway in front of the two storefronts.  A small planter is adjacent to the 
east façade.  The interiors of the two spaces were not accessible.   

1285-91 and 1295 Boulevard Way (APN 185-370-010) [Figs. 9A-D] 

The two buildings at 1285-91 and 1295 Boulevard Way are adjacent office buildings facing east 
(on the west side of the parcel) toward a large shared parking area.  The largely rectangular shaped 
lot measures about 200 in depth and about 145 feet wide.  Landscaping on the site includes several 
small trees adjacent to the front and south facades of 1295 Boulevard Way and various large 
hedges on each side of the 1285-91 Boulevard 
Way entrance stairs.  Hedges and shrubs are 
also planted in the front, center and northern 
end of the parking lot.  

The two buildings are oriented on a 
north/south axis.  Both buildings are two-story 
wood-frame structures with a gable roof and 
exterior stucco walls.  1295 Boulevard, closer 
to the street, has a long, oblique angle plan and 
an exterior second floor walkway with a metal 
balustrade.  Under the projecting main roof overhang, the walkway provides access to the second 
floor office tenants.  The projecting second floor walkway creates a covered first floor walkway.  
Exterior concrete stairs on the north and south facades of the building lead up to the second floor 

1295 Boulevard Way 
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walkway.  The first floor has eight large fixed pane windows adjacent to single hinged doors 
opening into the offices.  Stone facing is below the front façade windows with a series of narrow 
wood slates above. The second floor has tripartite aluminum frame windows adjacent to the doors 
into the offices. The interior of the building was not accessible. 

1285-91 Boulevard Way has a long rectangular plan and two stories with offices on the second 
floor and storage/garages on the first floor.  A wide stair on the south leads up to the entrance 
porch on the front (east) façade.  The entrance porch, below a prominent projecting gable with 
exposed rafters, has a wooden balustrade.  The 
entrance doors are inset into the front wall.  
Flanking the central entrance are groups of 
eight narrow vertical windows.  A band of 
wood slates separates the first from the second 
floor.  The interior of the building was not 
accessible.  

1180 Saranap Avenue (APN 185-370-018) 
[Figs. 10A-B] 

The Sandpiper apartment building at 1180 
Saranap Avenue is a two-story wood-frame 
structure with a U-shaped plan with a central 
parking area.  A pool is surrounded on three 
sides by the building.  A stucco and 
latticework fence on the north side separates 
the pool from the parking lot.  The lot has 
14,375 square feet and the building is 8,528 
square feet with 22 apartment units (10 first 
floor, 12 second floor).  The interior of each 
unit was not accessible.  Landscaping near the 
building is limited to planters with trimmed 
hedges along the base of the west façade.  The building has smooth stucco exterior walls and a flat 
roof.  The apartments have tripartite and paired windows with modern double-pane glass.  A wide 
band of shingles is between the first and second floors on the west facade.  Vertical decorative 
slates under the name “The Sandpiper” are on the southern half of the west façade.  An exterior 
second floor walkway provides access to the second floor units.  

1285-91 Boulevard Way 

1180 Saranap Avenue 

1176 Saranap Avenue (APN 185-370-012) [Figs. 11A-B] 

1176 Saranap Avenue is a wood-frame, single-story, single-family house with cross gable roof 
covered with asphalt shingles.  The lot has 8,712 square feet.  The front yard has perimeter 
trimmed hedges, several small and medium size trees, various shrubs and bushes and a gravel 
covered driveway on the south leading to a single-car detached garage.  The wood-frame garage 
has a gable roof and exterior rustic siding.  A concrete path from the garage leads to the front 
entrance porch.  A modern latticework fence encloses the side yard on the south.  
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The house has an L-shaped plan with a 
projecting front porch under a north gable 
(now enclosed by latticework) on the front 
(west) facade.  The porch has a wood floor and 
four posts supporting the porch roof.  The 
house has a perimeter concrete foundation.  
The exterior walls are covered with rustic 
siding and the house has wooden sash, one 
over one, double-hung windows.  The house 
has shed-roof extension on the south façade.  
Modern sliding glass doors open out to a side 
porch on the south.  Inside, the house has 966 
square feet with two bedrooms, one bathroom, 
accessible. 

1176 Saranap Avenue 

a kitchen and dining area.  The interior was not 

VI. HISTORIC EVALUATION 

California Register of Historical Resources 

The California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR) (Public Resources Code Section 5024.1) 
is a listing of properties that are to be protected from substantial adverse change, and it includes 
properties that are listed, or have been formally determined to be eligible for listing in, the 
National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), State Historical Landmarks, and eligible Points of 
Historical Interest.  A historical resource may be listed in the CRHR if it meets one or more of the 
following criteria: 

(1) It is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad 
patterns of local or regional history, or cultural heritage of California or the United 
States; 

(2) It is associated with lives of persons important to local, California or national 
history;  

(3) Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region or method of 
construction, or represents the work of a master or possesses high artistic values; 
or, 

(4) It has yielded or has the potential to yield information important in the prehistory or 
history of the local area, California, or the nation. 

In addition, the historical resource must retain integrity and be 50 years in age or older (except for 
rare cases of structures of exceptional significance. 

The California Register defines "integrity" as ". . . the authenticity of a property's physical identity, 
evidenced by the survival of characteristics that existed during the property's period of 
significance," that is, it must retain enough of its historic character or appearance to be 
recognizable as an historical resource.  Following the National Register of Historic Places integrity 
criteria, California Register regulations specify that integrity is a quality that applies to historic 
resources in seven ways: location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and 
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association.3  A property must retain the majority of these qualities to possess integrity.  

Under the CEQA Guidelines (Title 14. California Code of Regulations Chapter 3. Guidelines for 
Implementation of the California Environmental Quality Act) the term "historical resources" shall 
include the following:  

(1) A resource listed in, or determined to be eligible by the State Historical Resources 
Commission, for listing in the California Register of Historical Resources (Pub. 
Res. Code, §5024.1, Title 14 CCR, Section 4850 et seq.). 

(2) A resource included in a local register of historical resources, as defined in section 
5020.1(k) of the Public Resources Code or identified as significant in an historical 
resource survey meeting the requirements section 5024.1(g) of the Public 
Resources Code, shall be presumed to be historically or culturally significant. 
Public agencies must treat any such resource as significant unless the 
preponderance of evidence demonstrates that it is not historically or culturally 
significant.  

(3) Any object, building, structure, site, area, place, record, or manuscript which a lead 
agency determines to be historically significant or significant in the architectural, 
engineering, scientific, economic, agricultural, educational, social, political, 
military, or cultural annals of California may be considered to be an historical 
resource, provided the lead agency's determination is supported by substantial 
evidence in light of the whole record. Generally, a resource shall be considered by 
the lead agency to be "historically significant" if the resource meets the criteria for 
listing on the California Register of Historical Resources (Pub. Res. Code, §5024.1, 
Title 14 CCR, Section 4852).  

(4) The fact that a resource is not listed in, or determined to be eligible for listing in the 
California Register of Historical Resources, not included in a local register of 
historical resources (pursuant to section 5020.1(k) of the Public Resources Code), 
or identified in an historical resources survey (meeting the criteria in section 
5024.1(g) of the Public Resources Code) does not preclude a lead agency from 
determining that the resource may be an historical resource as defined in Public 
Resources Code sections 5020.1(j) or 5024.1.  

Representation in Local Historic Inventories 

The Contra Costa County General Plan (Chapter 9 - Open Space) states that:  

. . . a historic resources inventory was compiled in 1976 by the County in 
coordination with the local historical societies. While the historic resources 
inventory is not considered to be a comprehensive listing of the County’s historic 
resources, it is a major starting point for the protection of historic resources (Contra 
Costa County Department of Conservation and Development 2005:9-11).  
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The General Plan further states under its “Historic and Cultural Resource Goals” that it is County 
policy “. . . to identify and preserve important archaeological and historic resources within the 
County” (Contra Costa County Department of Conservation and Development 2005:9-11).  The 
buildings in the project area are not listed in the Preliminary Historic Resources Inventory, Contra 
Costa County, California, 1976 and have not been identified in this report as important historic 
resources in the county. 

1300 Boulevard Way - Holy Ghost Hall/Sufi Reunited  

If it retained historic integrity, the original Holy Ghost Hall at 1300 Boulevard Way may have 
been eligible for the CRHR Register under Criterion 1 because of its significant role as a meeting 
hall for the local Portuguese community and as a venue for their main annual celebration, the Holy 
Ghost Festival.  Portuguese immigrants were a prominent ethnic community in local ranching and 
farming history from the 1890s to the 1950s.  Many significant alterations have compromised the 
historic integrity of the original Holy Ghost Hall.  The historic integrity of design, materials, 
workmanship, feeling and association has been compromised.  The alterations include the 
substantial expansion to the south; the new windows and doors on the front façade; the new 
driveway and porte-cochere on the south; and the interior spaces and finishes have been entirely 
remodeled.  Little survives of the original Holy Ghost Hall constructed ca. 1950.  Even if it 
retained a higher level of historic integrity, the building is not an architecturally exceptional or 
distinguished meeting hall, thus it does not appear to be eligible under Criterion 3.  Archival 
research did not identify any significant figures in local history associated with the building, thus 
it does not appear to be significant under Criterion 2. 

In conclusion, 1300 Boulevard Way is not eligible for the CRHR because its historic integrity has 
been compromised.  The building is not a contributing resource to a CRHR eligible historic 
district.  

1320, 1322, 1324-1326 Boulevard Way - La Rossa Market 

The La Rossa Market and the two adjacent retail spaces at 1320 to 1326 Boulevard Way appear to 
retain a good level of historic integrity.  The building has not been substantially altered since 
constructed in 1955.  Even though it retains historic integrity, the building is not an exceptional or 
distinguished example of a commercial retail building in the Walnut Creek area, thus it does not 
appear to be eligible under CRHR Criterion 3.  The building individually also does not appear to 
have significant associations with local themes or cultural patterns of significance, thus it does not 
appear to be eligible under Criterion 1.  The La Rossa family who originally operated the La Rossa 
Market at 1326 Boulevard Way were not significant figures in local history, thus it does not 
appear to be significant under Criterion 2.  The retail spaces have been occupied by a variety of 
different tenants since 1955. 

In conclusion, 1320-1326 Boulevard Way is not eligible for the CRHR because it is not significant 
under Criteria 1, 2 or 3.  The building also is not a contributing resource to a CRHR eligible 
historic district.  
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1285-1291 and 1295 Boulevard Way  

The two office buildings at 1285-1291 and 1295 Boulevard Way appear to retain a good level of 
historic integrity.  The buildings have not been substantially altered since their construction in the 
1960s.  Even though they retain historic integrity, the buildings are not exceptional or 
distinguished examples of 1960s office buildings in the Walnut Creek area, thus they do not 
appear to be eligible under CRHR Criterion 3.  The buildings individually also do not appear to 
have significant associations with local themes or cultural patterns of significance, thus they do 
not appear to be eligible under Criterion 1.  Archival research did not identify any significant 
persons or businesses in local history associated with the building, thus the building does not 
appear to be significant under Criterion 2.   

In conclusion, 1285-1291 and 1295 Boulevard Way are not eligible for the CRHR because they 
are not significant under Criteria 1, 2 or 3.  The buildings also are not contributing resources to a 
CRHR eligible historic district.  

1180 Saranap Avenue 

The Sandpiper Apartments at 1180 Saranap Avenue appear to retain a good level of historic 
integrity.  The building has not been substantially altered since constructed in 1958.  Even though 
it retains historic integrity, the building is not an exceptional or distinguished example of 1950s 
apartment building design in the Walnut Creek area, thus it does not appear to be eligible under 
CRHR Criterion 3.  The building individually also does not appear to have significant associations 
with local themes or cultural patterns of significance, thus it does not appear to be eligible under 
Criterion 1.  Archival research did not identify any significant figures in local history associated 
with the building, thus it does not appear to be significant under Criterion 2. 

In conclusion, 1180 Saranap Avenue is not eligible for the CRHR because it is not significant 
under Criteria 1, 2 or 3.  The building also is not a contributing resource to a CRHR eligible 
historic district.  

1176 Saranap Avenue  

1176 Saranap Avenue appears to retain a good level of historic integrity.  The front porch has been 
enclosed with latticework (a reversible alteration) and sliding glass doors have been added on the 
south, otherwise the house retains its original 1941 design.  Even though it retains historic 
integrity, the house is not an exceptional or distinguished example of the Ranch House Style in the 
Walnut Creek area, thus it does not appear to be eligible under CRHR Criterion 3.  The house 
individually also does not appear to have significant associations with local themes or cultural 
patterns of significance, thus it does not appear to be eligible under Criterion 1.  The original 
owner/occupants of the house – Helen and Walter Leedom – are not significant figures in local 
history, thus the house does not appear to be significant under Criterion 2.   

In conclusion, 1176 Saranap Avenue is not eligible for the CRHR because it is not significant 
under Criteria 1, 2 or 3. The house also is not a contributing resource to a CRHR eligible historic 
district.  
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VII. SUMMARY 

The project includes six buildings: two office buildings at 1285-1291 and 1295 Boulevard Way; 
the Holy Ghost Hall/Sufism Reunited Sanctuary at 1300 Boulevard Way; a grocery store (the 
original La Rossa Market) and two adjacent retail spaces at 1320, 1322, 1324-1326 Boulevard 
Way; the Sandpiper Apartments at 1180 Saranap Avenue; and a single-family house 1176 Saranap 
Avenue.   

None of the buildings in the project area appear to be eligible for the CRHR because they are not 
significant under the significance criteria or they lack historic integrity.  In addition, none of the 
buildings either individually or collectively contributes to a CRHR eligible district.  Consequently, 
no measures to mitigate their removal are required under the CEQA Statutes and Guidelines 
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Figure 11B 1176 Saranap Avenue – front façade and porch, view to the north 
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Figure 3:  Aerial View of Project Area 
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Figure 4:  Floraland Tract with Project Area



Figure 5:  Floraland Tract Advertisement - 1915



Figure 6:  Saranap Inn Advertisement (Oakland Tribune July 14, 1970)



 

Figure 7A: 1300 Boulevard Way – front façade and parking lot, view to the southwest 

 

Figure 7B: 1300 Boulevard Way – portico, view to the northwest 

 



 

Figure 7C: 1300 Boulevard Way – first floor dining area 

 

Figure 7D: 1300 Boulevard Way – second floor meeting room 



 

Figure 8A: 1320-22 Boulevard Way on the left, 1324-26 on the right, view to the south 

 

Figure 8B: 1320-22 Boulevard Way - façade, view to the south 



 

Figure 8C: 1324-26 Boulevard Way - view to the northeast 

 

Figure 8D: 1324-26 Boulevard Way – interior view 



 

Figure 9A: 1285-91 Boulevard Way – façade, view to the northwest 

 

Figure 9B: 1285-91 Boulevard Way – entrance porch, view to the northwest 

 



 

Figure 9C: 1295 Boulevard Way – façade, view to the southwest 

 

Figure 9D: 1295 Boulevard Way – view to the northwest 



 

Figure 10A: 1180 Saranap Avenue – view to the southeast 

 

Figure 10B: 1180 Saranap Avenue – view to the east 



 

Figure 11A: 1176 Saranap Avenue – view to the northeast 

 

Figure 11B: 1176 Saranap Avenue – front façade and porch, view to the north 
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